
[image: Cover Page of Stark Mad Abolitionists]


[image: Half Title of Stark Mad Abolitionists]


[image: Title Page of Stark Mad Abolitionists]


Copyright © 2017 by Robert K. Sutton

Foreword © 2017 by Bob Dole

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any manner without the express written consent of the publisher, except in the case of brief excerpts in critical reviews or articles. All inquiries should be addressed to Skyhorse Publishing, 307 West 36th Street, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10018.

Skyhorse Publishing books may be purchased in bulk at special discounts for sales promotion, corporate gifts, fund-raising, or educational purposes. Special editions can also be created to specifications. For details, contact the Special Sales Department, Skyhorse Publishing, 307 West 36th Street, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10018 or info@skyhorsepublishing.com.

Skyhorse® and Skyhorse Publishing® are registered trademarks of Skyhorse Publishing, Inc.®, a Delaware corporation.

Visit our website at www.skyhorsepublishing.com.

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data is available on file.

Cover design by Rain Saukas

Cover photo credit: Sarin Images / Granger, NYC

Print ISBN: 978-1-5107-1649-0

Ebook ISBN: 978-1-5107-1651-3

Printed in the United States of America


Dedicated to the memory of my mother and father

Robert H. Sutton and Evelyn W. Sutton

and to my mother-in-law

Florence R. Davidson


Foreword

Growing up and attending school in Russell, Kansas, we were steeped in the early history of our state and its founders. We learned that the earliest settlers were given the choice of whether they wanted slavery or not under the concept of popular sovereignty in the Kansas-Nebraska Act that created the territory.

Pro-slavery advocates from Missouri were willing to go all out to bring Kansas into the slave-state fold. Meanwhile, antislavery proponents were just as determined that Kansas would be free. The first salvo in the first battle came with the election for a territorial legislature in 1855. Today, we hear accusations of voter fraud or voter suppression, but in Kansas’s first territorial election, there was no question of voter fraud. Thousands of Missourians, having no intention of living in Kansas, crossed the border and voted to elect members of the territorial legislature who would do their bidding. This was the first step in their efforts toward making Kansas a slave state. The pro-slavery legislature went on to pass legislation protecting the institution of slavery, submitting the Lecompton Constitution to Congress in an effort to protect the institution of slavery when Kansas was admitted to the Union.

On the other end of the spectrum, antislavery proponents did everything they could to make Kansas a free state. Bob Sutton tells the story of Amos Adams Lawrence, an extraordinary man from Boston who “waked up” one morning as a “stark mad abolitionist” and devoted a substantial portion of his energy and fortune to ensure that Kansas would become a free state. Lawrence became the treasurer and benefactor of the New England Emigrant Aid Company, an organization that encouraged antislavery activists from the Northeast to leave everything behind and emigrate to Kansas, with the primary purpose of making the territory a free state. Many settled in the community—Lawrence, Kansas—that they named for their benefactor. They battled the pro-slavery legislature by establishing their own, albeit illegal, government. They created and elected members to their own legislature, and drafted and submitted their constitution to Congress, seeking admission for Kansas as a free state.

The battle that started as a war of words eventually became a war of violence called “Bleeding Kansas.” In time, the antislavery side prevailed and Kansas was admitted to the Union as a free state on the eve of the Civil War. Kansans wholeheartedly supported the war, sending nearly all eligible men, or almost 20 percent of the entire state’s population, to fight for the Union. Thirty-eight percent of Kansas’s soldiers were casualties of the war, among the nation’s highest per capita.

But the wounds opened in the territorial period did not heal with statehood. In 1863, the Confederate guerrilla chieftain William Clarke Quantrill led a force of four hundred ruthless killers into Lawrence, Kansas, killing some two hundred men and boys and burning most of the buildings in town to the ground.

Balanced with the savagery of Quantrill’s attack, money and food poured into Lawrence from all over the country. Amos Adams Lawrence donated thousands of dollars in relief money after the raid and at the same time underwrote the initial funding to establish my alma mater in Lawrence—the University of Kansas. The residents of Lawrence were resilient and quickly rebuilt their town. Amos Lawrence and other benefactors set aside substantial portions of their relief money to aid the hundreds of children whose fathers were killed in Quantrill’s raid or in other battles of the Civil War. One key benefit: these children could attend the University of Kansas free of charge—quite a progressive program for the 1860s.

Bob Sutton does a wonderful job of capturing our state’s early history. His Kansas roots run deep. Sutton’s ancestors were among the earliest pioneers in Kansas, arriving and settling in Sutton Valley in Anderson County in early 1855. Sutton’s great-grandfather, Isco “Pony” (shortened from Napoleon) Sutton, served in the 16th Kansas Cavalry during the Civil War. In this carefully researched book, Sutton reminds us that 150 years ago our country underwent its most challenging transition period to date. The nation was fundamentally torn over the institution of slavery, and Kansas was at the center of that debate. In this scholarly but readable book, Sutton explains why the stakes were so high during this most momentous time in our history.

—Bob Dole

Former US Senator from Kansas


Preface

IN 1831, ALEXIS DE TOCQUEVILLE left his native France and traveled to the United States, ostensibly to visit American prisons. But his journey carried him well beyond the penal system. He immersed himself in American culture, economics, politics, and society and recorded his observations in his Democracy in America (1835). Even today, most scholars recognize Tocqueville’s work as the most perceptive study of early nineteenth-century America. His purpose was to explain the United States to his fellow French people, but over time, we have come to recognize that he also described America to Americans. Among his many findings, Tocqueville noted that “western migration is an extraordinary phenomenon, in which [Americans] band together in search of fortune. The restless spirit which drives people to move west is very good for the country, because it prevents the population from being concentrated in only a few places.”

The phenomenon of westward expansion, fascinating to Tocqueville, also captured my imagination at a very early age. As a young child, my grandparents regaled me with the stories of their parents emigrating to Oregon. My great-grandfather traveled to Oregon by himself at age seventeen—with only the shirt on his back—and my great-grandmother was three weeks old when her family left Missouri on the Oregon Trail. My father also shared the accounts of his family’s frequent moves, ending with their settlement in Kansas. My great-great-grandfather, James Sutton, settled in Kansas in 1855. He brought his family from Osage County, Missouri, and settled in a region that would become part of Anderson County. James’s parents were from New Jersey. They moved to Pennsylvania, then to Hamilton County, Ohio, where James was born in 1809. He moved to Indiana, to Illinois, to Osage County, Missouri, then on to Kansas.

James’s son—my great-grandfather, Isco Napoleon “Pony” Sutton—fascinated me as well. Pony Sutton joined Company L, of the 16th Kansas Cavalry, late in the Civil War. The story that was passed down through the generations was that he was wounded four times and, as a result, died at an early age. From the depositions in his pension record, however, we learned that he contracted dysentery while in service and died from complications of the disease at age forty. Before he died, he was twice elected sheriff of Anderson County, and, in 1882, he was elected to the Kansas State House of Representatives as a member of the Greenback Party

Clearly, my ancestors on both sides of the family moved west to better themselves and the lives of their families. But the preparations required for each move must have been staggering. They needed to dispose of their property, purchase enough supplies and equipment for their journeys, and bid farewell to friends and family. Then, when they arrived at their destinations, they had to start from scratch. Whether they acquired land, started businesses, or went in search of jobs, most were confident, but unsure, of future success.

As Tocqueville observed, my ancestors and most pioneers moved to the West seeking their fortunes. Some were successful; others were not. There were exceptions, such as the Mormons who moved to Utah, hoping to free themselves from religious persecution. Others, such as the American fur trappers, combined adventure with their search for wealth. And still others headed west—not for financial gain, but to weaken the institution of slavery and bring about its ultimate destruction. They acted when Congress passed the Kansas-Nebraska Act of 1854, opening up settlement in these two territories. Embedded in this law was the principle of popular sovereignty that allowed the citizens to decide whether or not they wanted slavery in their future states. Knowing little about the land and even less about their chances for economic success, abolitionists willingly left their lives behind to settle in Kansas, with the primary purpose of doing everything in their power to keep slavery out of their new home.

Their task was daunting. But to ease the prospect of traveling to and settling in this alien land, businessmen in the East were willing to risk vast sums of money to facilitate the migration. One such northeastern businessman, Amos Adams Lawrence, in his own words, went to bed one night a conservative businessman, and “waked up a stark mad abolitionist.” As quickly as he awakened, he combined his fortune and his energy with others in the New England Emigrant Aid Company to encourage abolitionists to emigrate to Kansas by making the trip as painless as possible. This financial support was crucial, but in addition to the challenges of building new lives in Kansas, immigrants quickly discovered that the pro-slavery residents of neighboring Missouri were just as passionate that Kansas should become a slave state. These Missourians were willing to stop at nothing to achieve their goal.

The epicenter of the antislavery movement, which also became the prime target for the pro-slavery side, was the community of Lawrence, Kansas. When Lawrence was more a dream than a reality, the first pioneers voted to name the community after Amos Adams Lawrence, recognizing his generous financial support. Whenever needed, Amos Lawrence opened his pocketbook to ensure that Kansas would become a free state, and that the town that bore his name would thrive. Amos Lawrence and many of the major players in the story have recorded their experiences. Whenever possible, as we whisk you back 150 years, we will share the challenges, the struggles, the tragedies, and the triumphs of Lawrence—the town and the person—through the eyes of the participants.
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Introduction

IN THE SUMMER OF 1787, Congress was, for all intents and purposes, dysfunctional. Many members of the United States in Congress Assembled—the official title of the body under the Articles of Confederation—were in Philadelphia as delegates to the Federal Convention, deliberating over a new constitution. On most days, the remaining members of Congress could barely pull together a quorum to do business; on other days, not enough were present to even make a quorum. In the middle of the summer, however, Congress was back in business. The Reverend Manasseh Cutler, a lobbyist from Massachusetts, came to the seat of government in New York City on behalf of the Ohio Company of Associates. His clients were Revolutionary War veterans and land speculators from New England. His job was to convince Congress to sell a large tract of land in Ohio to his company at a bargain price. The government was strapped for money, and Rev. Cutler made the convincing argument that his clients would put money in the government coffers, and, by advertising the availability of land far and wide, they would stimulate settlement in Ohio. To move the deal along, Cutler offered stakes in the land company to recalcitrant Congressmen in exchange for their votes.

Rev. Cutler was an outstanding salesman. As he was closing the deal to buy one and a half million acres, he made the case that potential settlers in Ohio or in other western lands needed assurances that stable governments, with orderly processes in place for admission to the union on equal footing with the original thirteen states, were necessary to encourage emigration. To that end, Rev. Cutler helped craft the Northwest Ordinance, which became one of the most important pieces of legislation in our nation’s history.1 The ordinance stated that at least three and no more than five new states would eventually be created in the area north and west of the Ohio River, up to the Mississippi River. Each would have been initially established as a territory. As it reached certain milestones, it would achieve more and more autonomy until each new territory could apply for statehood. When admitted as states, each would be equal in every way with the original thirteen. The ordinance stipulated that “religion, morality, and knowledge being necessary to good government,” schools of all levels were important to ensure “the happiness of mankind” in each territory. Slavery was specifically prohibited in the allowed three-to-five new territories created by this ordinance. As with the land purchase, Rev. Cutler had to sweeten the pot to ensure that the president of Congress, Arthur St. Clair, would support the ordinance. Governors would be appointed, rather than elected, to make way for St. Clair to fill that position in Ohio.2

Rev. Cutler then traveled to Philadelphia to apprise the delegates of the Federal Convention what their colleagues were doing in New York. He wanted to ensure that his agreement, agreed upon with Congress in New York, would not be undermined in the new constitution. His mission was successful; with very little debate, Article IV, Section 3 of the new Constitution stated that “new states may be admitted by the Congress into this union….” Further, under the same section, the delegates adopted the language that “Congress shall have power to dispose of and make all needful rules and regulations respecting the territory or other property belonging to the United States.”

While the future admission of new states was straightforward, other issues before the convention were far more complicated, such as how to deal with the institution of slavery. Delegates debated at length as to whether slavery should even be allowed under the new government. After North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia threatened to walk if slavery was not protected, the delegates addressed slavery in three parts of the new Constitution. Slaves could be imported from outside the United States until 1808, individual slaves would be counted as three-fifths of a person in the census to bolster the power slave states held in the House of Representatives, and the fugitive slave clause provided for the return of escaped slaves to their masters. Many northern delegates believed slavery was on the road to extinction, making it easier to support the compromise.

For the first thirty years under the constitution, new states were admitted in an orderly fashion, under the basic framework established under the constitution and the Northwest Ordinance. The prohibition of slavery in the Northwest Ordinance only applied to that region. Under the new Constitution, Congress had the flexibility to balance equality in the admission of free and slave states. Everything seemed to be working well; that is, until Missouri sought admission as a slave state in 1819—at the time, there was not an obvious free territory ready for admission to maintain the balance between free and slave states. Senator Rufus King of New York led the northern, antislavery faction, when he argued that Congress had the power to prohibit slavery in any new state. Senator William Pinkney of Maryland advocated for the Southerners, arguing that states had a perfect right to choose slavery if they wished. Congress was deadlocked, until Senator Henry Clay from Kentucky proposed a compromise, in which Missouri would be admitted as a slave state, and to balance free and slave states, Maine, then part of Massachusetts, would be admitted as a free state. In addition, a line would be drawn at latitude 36°30′ (the southern boundary of Missouri); slavery would be illegal north of that line within the Louisiana Purchase.

As with most compromises, there was grumbling on both sides over the issue of slavery, but, in the end, most were willing to accept the agreement. One elder statesman who was deeply troubled by the compromise, however, was Thomas Jefferson. He confided to his friend John Holmes that “like a fire bell in the night, [news of the Missouri Compromise] awakened and filled me with terror. I considered it at once as the knell of the Union.” He went on to say that “we have the wolf [the institution of slavery] by the ear, and we can neither hold him, nor safely let him go. Justice is in one scale, and self-preservation in the other.” He was fearful that the nation he and other patriots had created might collapse over the institution of slavery.3

Over the next thirty years, Jefferson’s concerns about the future of his country seemed unfounded. Numerous issues regarding slavery came before Congress, but the admission of free and slave states continued, and the balance remained equal. In 1850, however, another crisis emerged. California had exploded in population with the gold rush. It had not been organized as a territory, but it still desired admission to the Union as a free state. As Jefferson had prophesied, the issue was like “a fire bell in the night.” There seemed to be no reasonable solution to the problem. Henry Clay, who orchestrated the Missouri Compromise, was not well, but he introduced a package of five bills that he hoped would work magic. In September 1850, and with the shepherding of Senator Stephen A. Douglas from Illinois, Congress reached a compromise by passing all five bills introduced by Clay. Texas would surrender its claim to what would become New Mexico, as well as its land north of the Missouri Compromise line. In return, the federal government would assume Texas’s public debt. California would be admitted as a free state. The Utah and New Mexico Territories could choose if they wanted slavery or not under the concept of popular sovereignty. The slave trade, but not the institution of slavery, was banned in the District of Columbia. Finally, Congress enacted a stringent fugitive slave law, making it much easier for slave owners to reclaim their slave property.

The North was pleased to have another free state, and many could see the potential for other new free states created from the territory surrendered from Texas. Some, especially antislavery members of Congress, were happy to see the slave markets in the District of Columbia closed. But the new Fugitive Slave Act was a hard pill to swallow. The South was not pleased with most of the compromise, but many believed they had achieved a small victory with the Fugitive Slave Act. Under this law, special federal commissioners were appointed to handle fugitive cases. If they found for the slave owner, and returned the fugitive to servitude, they received $10. The hearing was not a jury trial and the fugitive could not provide a defense. The claimant only had to provide an affidavit or sworn testimony that he or she had a legal claim to the fugitive. If commissioners found against the claimant, they received $5. In other words, their financial incentive was to find in favor of the slave owner. US Marshals were required to aid in the capture of fugitives, and they could force bystanders to aid in apprehending a fugitive slave. Anyone who aided or provided food or shelter to a fugitive was subject to a $1,000 fine and six months in jail. Without normal legal protections, free blacks were vulnerable to capture and being sent south as slaves.

As the Fugitive Slave Act was in force, fugitive slaves—and even some free African Americans—fled to Canada—some three thousand in the three months after passage of the law. Many abolitionists, or fugitives such as Harriet Tubman, who assisted or guided slaves in their journeys on the Underground Railroad, simply saw the new law as an additional bother. They subscribed to a “higher law” that they considered above any earthly law. Other antislavery advocates, normally law-abiding citizens, were deeply conflicted with knowingly breaking a federal law but felt so strongly about the injustice of the law that they swallowed their apprehensions and aided fugitives. On the other side, Southerners, who had reluctantly agreed to the entire compromise, thinking the Fugitive Slave Act would protect their interests, were outraged that the federal government wasn’t doing a better job of returning slaves to captivity and punishing those who helped slaves escape.

Clearly, the Compromise of 1850 was not functioning as well as its sponsors had hoped. Senator Douglas, who had successfully pushed through the earlier compromise, came up with a new plan that he hoped would calm the troubled political waters. He had introduced the concept of popular sovereignty with the establishment of the New Mexico and Utah territories, and now he proposed the same concept in the bill he introduced in 1854 to create the Kansas and Nebraska territories. He hoped that the concept of popular sovereignty would “triumph and impart peace to the country and stability to the Union.”4 He thought his idea made perfect sense. The US Constitution started with “We the People of the United States, …” which to Douglas meant that the people were the power behind the government to which none other was equal. So, the people should be the ultimate source to make decisions such as whether or not they wanted slavery where they lived. Douglas had another motive as well: he hoped the transcontinental railroad would be built in one of these territories, which would financially benefit him and his constituents.

Not everyone agreed with Douglas. Abraham Lincoln, who would run against Douglas for his Senate seat several years later, strongly disagreed. Lincoln argued that the decision as to whether or not slavery should be allowed in the territories had successfully rested with Congress, dating back to the Northwest Ordinance of 1787. In his Peoria Speech in 1854, Lincoln said that Congress was abdicating the responsibility it had held “through sixty-odd of the best years of the republic.” Since Congress had successfully managed territorial issues since the creation of the republic, he saw no reason to change that now. Lincoln also made it very clear that he was emphatically against slavery, adding that “if the negro is a man, why then my ancient faith teaches me that ‘all men are created equal;’ and that there can be no moral right in connection with one man’s making a slave of another.”5 So, to Lincoln, decisions concerning slavery in the territories should remain in the hands of Congress, and, if he had his way, slavery would be abolished in all territories as well.

Douglas and Lincoln disagreed on how Congress should legislate regarding slavery in the territories, but at least they both recognized that Congress had the authority to make laws for the territories. There was, however, another faction that did not agree with Douglas or Lincoln—the slaveholding South. While a number of senators from the South were begrudgingly willing to support the Kansas-Nebraska Act, most believed that neither Congress nor the people should be able to ban slavery in the territories. They based their argument on the Constitution as well, but rather than focusing on Article IV, they argued that the Fifth Amendment provided that no one could “be deprived of life, liberty, or property [emphasis added], without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.” Slaves were property, and there should be no restrictions on people taking their slaves into territories on a temporary or permanent basis.

While the nation’s leaders were debating the creation of new territories in Kansas and Nebraska under the principle of popular sovereignty, the Fugitive Slave Act created a spectacle in northern cities that was turning more and more people against slavery. Many northern conservative businessmen had, for the most part, stood on the sidelines and not taken much interest in the issues surrounding slavery. But as they witnessed the capture of escaped slaves who were brought before kangaroo courts without any chance to plead their cases, and then these slaves being returned in shackles to bondage, the businessmen could no longer ignore what was happening around them. One such businessman, George S. Hilliard, after he witnessed a fugitive being shipped off to bondage from Boston, was so deeply troubled by what he saw, he wrote to a friend that “when it was all over [the slave was led away in chains] and I was left alone in my office, I put my face in my hands and wept. I could do nothing less.”6 Amos Adams Lawrence, another wealthy conservative Bostonian, had the same reaction to the same incident, but instead of hanging his head in shame, he decided to take action, to do what he could to end the institution of slavery. He saw his opportunity, for at the same time the slave was returned to bondage, Congress moved from debating to passing the Kansas-Nebraska Act. Since Congress made the decision to allow these new territories to choose whether they wanted slavery or not, in an instant, he committed to investing a great deal of money and energy to make Kansas a free state.


PART I

THE AWAKENING


1   We Waked Up Stark Mad Abolitionists

FROM MAY 24 THROUGH JUNE 2, 1854, Boston was in an uproar. On May 24, Anthony Burns, a young African American enslaved man, who had escaped from his bondage in Virginia and settled in Boston where he worked at a men’s clothing store, was captured by his owner on his way home from work. Burns’s owner, Charles Suttle, tracked his whereabouts from a letter he had intercepted from Burns to his brother. There was no question that Burns was an enslaved man and was Suttle’s property. Under the United States Constitution and the Fugitive Slave Act of 1850, there also was no question that Burns had no rights whatsoever.7

Although Burns had no legal claim to his freedom, to the citizens of Boston, his capture was an outrage. Antislavery lawyers representing Burns used several legal maneuvers to delay the hearing to send their client back to slavery. On May 26, a mob of some seven thousand black and white abolitionists, led by a Unitarian minister, the Reverend Thomas Wentworth Higginson, stormed the courthouse attempting to free Burns. When order was restored, one US Marshal was dead, and a dozen more individuals were injured. Abolitionists and federal troops faced off again the following day when the hearing began under heavy guard. Burns was represented by Richard Henry Dana and Charles M. Ellis, two of Boston’s finest abolitionist attorneys. Unfortunately for Anthony Burns, the Fugitive Slave Act did not allow for legal representation, so there was very little Dana or Ellis could offer as a defense. US Commissioner Edward G. Loring found for Suttle and ordered Burns returned to servitude.

[image: images]

Anthony Burns engraving by John Andrews. Surrounding Burns are scenes from his life. Lower left, sold at auction, next a whipping post, then his arrest in Boston. The next scene depicts his escape on ship from Richmond, then Burns escorted to Boston dock by federal marshals. Burns is possibly addressing the court, and finally Burns in slave prison in Richmond. Library of Congress.

President Franklin Pierce, although a Northerner, was committed to upholding the Fugitive Slave Act and was determined that Anthony Burns would be returned to servitude no matter the cost in dollars and manpower. So, on June 2, more than two thousand federal soldiers and marines cordoned off the streets of Boston. An estimated fifty thousand people watched as Anthony Burns was escorted in chains to an awaiting ship in Boston harbor. He was returned to Virginia and bondage. The government expense for the whole affair was $40,000.8

The story did not end on June 2, 1854. True, no more enslaved people were returned to bondage from Boston, so that part of the story was over. The Burns affair had a profound impact on Amos Adams Lawrence, who was a patriarch of one of Boston’s wealthiest and most powerful families. On June 1, the day before Burns was returned to slavery, Lawrence wrote to his uncle that “we went to bed one night old-fashioned, conservative, Compromise Union Whigs and waked up stark mad Abolitionists.”9

[image: images]

Amos Adams Lawrence. Frontispiece in William Lawrence, ed, Life of Amos A. Lawrence: With Extracts from His Diary and Correspondence (1888).

We know very little of Amos Adams Lawrence’s physical attributes. From the best image we have, he appears to be diminutive in stature, but that is based on conjecture, since no description of him survives. We know more about his persona. He was a deeply religious man, who was also absolutely devoted to his family. He was a very private man. He kept his innermost thoughts to himself, but fortunately for us, he shared his personal musings with his diary, which has survived. He shunned public attention whenever possible; he preferred communicating in writing rather than by the spoken word.

Lawrence fulfilled the adage of being born with a silver spoon in his mouth, with all of the benefits his noble birth implied. He was sent to a boarding school, Franklin Academy in Andover, Massachusetts, but was so unhappy there, he ran away for several days. He entered Harvard at age seventeen, but he left a year later when the college president suggested to his father that he needed private tutoring before he continued with his studies. Lawrence was sent to Bedford, Massachusetts, where he received private tutoring from J. Stearns; he then returned to Harvard, from which he graduated in 1835.

Amos Adams Lawrence was able to enjoy all of these advantages because his father, also Amos Lawrence, along with his uncle, Abbott Lawrence, built one of the largest and most successful wholesale mercantile businesses in the country. They also developed cotton and woolen milling enterprises in Massachusetts. When Amos senior retired from his business interests in 1831 at age forty-five, he devoted the remainder of his life to philanthropy, reportedly giving over $1 million to charitable causes, organizations, and projects.

So the younger Amos Lawrence grew up in a wealthy but generous household. He acquired both his father’s business skills and passion for philanthropy. Shortly after he graduated from Harvard, Lawrence created a business niche as a commission merchant selling manufactured textiles produced in New England mills. Then in 1843, when he and his partner, Robert Mason, consolidated their interests into Mason and Lawrence, Lawrence was a successful textile merchant.10 From the very beginning of his business successes, the younger Lawrence was generous with his money; so much so, in his personal diary entry from earlier in 1854, he wrote that he needed to continue with his business enterprises so he would be able to meet the demands of the charities he supported.11

It didn’t take long for Amos A. Lawrence to connect his money with his “stark mad” abolitionism. On May 30, during the nine days of turmoil in Boston over Anthony Burns, President Pierce signed the Kansas-Nebraska Act into law. For Lawrence and other New England abolitionists, the Burns episode and the Kansas-Nebraska Act must have seemed like a perfect storm.

After extensive debate, divided along sectional lines, and with shepherding from Senator Stephen A. Douglas of Illinois, Congress adopted the Kansas-Nebraska Act. The law changed the paradigm in place since the Missouri Compromise of 1820, in which new territories above the 36°30’ parallel would be free, and those below would be slave. Citizens in both territories could decide whether they wanted slavery or not under the concept of popular sovereignty.12

Amos Lawrence had followed the progression of the Kansas-Nebraska legislation for several months. He visited Washington, DC, to dine with his half-cousin, President Franklin Pierce, and his wife. While there, on April 13, 1854, he met Senator Stephen A. Douglas for the first time.13 In his diary, he wrote that Douglas was “apparently desirous to make me his friend.” The feeling was not mutual, however, for Lawrence went on to say that the senator from Illinois was “a very bright man and an ambitious and unscrupulous one,” and noted that Douglas likely would have had a good shot at being elected president, except that his sponsorship of the Kansas-Nebraska bill likely killed those chances. When the law passed in May, Lawrence observed that while President Pierce believed that the new law would “forever allay agitation about slavery,” he and many others saw the Kansas-Nebraska Act as “a fool-hardy scheme.”

Lawrence was unhappy with the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska Act, but with this new law and the capture and return of Anthony Burns, he moved from the sidelines of the slavery issue to firmly within the antislavery camp. He wrote that the Burns incident “made one resolve in his mind the value of our union when such a scene [Burns’s return to servitude] must be enacted here in order to support slavery and the laws.” From that moment on, Lawrence put his efforts and his considerable fortune toward keeping slavery out of the new territories.14

Since Missouri, a slave state, was adjacent to Kansas, the conventional wisdom in the spring of 1854 was that Missourians would flood the new territory with settlers and slaves and make Kansas a slave state. For that reason, many antislavery advocates wrung their hands in despair. Some, like Lawrence, on the other hand, saw an opportunity to match wits and strength with the pro-slavery forces by beating them at their own game—to encourage such a high number of antislavery people to settle in Kansas, that when it came for citizens to decide whether Kansas would be slave or free, the antislavery side would win.
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Cartoon, Forcing Slavery Down the Throat of a Freesoiler, by John L. Magee, 1856. The freesoiler’s head rests on a platform marked “Kansas,” “Cuba,” and “Central America.” Pro-slavery Democrats of that time wanted to extend slavery to these places. In the background, destruction and a man hanging from a tree. Library of Congress.

Shortly after Anthony Burns was returned to slavery, Lawrence wrote that he had “been made a trustee … [in an organization] to settle Kansas [with free residents] in advance of the introduction of slavery there.”15 The organization was the Massachusetts Emigrant Aid Company, established by Eli Thayer, who was a member of the Massachusetts Legislature. Thayer had pushed through the incorporation of this company a month before the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska Act for the primary purpose of encouraging the settlement of Kansas by New England antislavery advocates. The company charter established a ceiling of up to $5 million in capital, which was used to make the journey from New England to Kansas as painless as possible. Company agents would find the easiest transportation routes and negotiate the lowest fares. Company scouts would find and survey the most desirable land and provide temporary housing until settlers could build permanent dwellings. The company also would invest in schools, mills, and other economic infrastructure, such that the community would be self-sufficient as quickly as possible. Thayer envisioned that investors would invest in the company and reap profits from their investments.

Just when enthusiasm for Thayer’s plan was building, however, it looked as if the company might fold for lack of capital. Under the Massachusetts charter, board members were required to personally assume financial liabilities if the company failed. At this point, Amos Lawrence came to the rescue. Lawrence’s friend and fellow Boston merchant, Patrick T. Jackson, recognized that Thayer had a great idea but not a good sense of business, so Jackson cajoled Lawrence into bringing his considerable business skills as well as his deep pockets to the company. Lawrence was delighted to join forces with Thayer and put his “stark mad” abolitionism to work, yet he had no idea how much hard work the project would entail or how much money he would contribute. Lawrence’s son would later say that his father “had undertaken a piece of work which was as arduous as it was expensive.”16

Thayer and Lawrence would work together for the next several years to make Kansas a free state. Thayer came from a prominent but not prosperous New England family. He worked his way through Worchester County Manual Labor High School and Brown University, became a teacher in Worcester, and founded the Oread Institute—a school for young women. Regarding his passion to end slavery, Thayer later wrote that “during the winter of 1854, I began to have the conviction … that something had to be done to end the domination of slavery.”17
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Eli Thayer, Library of Congress.

With Lawrence on board, the organization was reorganized into a private company, which did not have the onerous requirements of liability for the board members. The new entity, the New England Emigrant Aid Company, was managed with three board members, with a new target capitalization of $200,000, which would be raised by selling $20 shares. The charter stated that the organization would “promote the emigration to Kansas Territory of persons opposed to slavery there, and to prevent, by all legal and constitutional means, its establishment there as well as in the Territory of Nebraska.”

Thayer continued to hold to the notion that investors could expect returns on their investments. Lawrence did not share his optimism and privately cautioned his friends that they should only contribute funds if they could spare them, rather than invest with the expectation of a return. “I am willing to contribute to the cause,” he wrote to a clergyman seeking his advice, “and I have already given a part of this away, and I intend to do the same with the balance,” without expecting anything in return. Writing to another friend, he said that he believed his financial backing would contribute to the “impulse to emigration into Kansas which cannot easily be stopped.”18

Before long, Lawrence grew increasingly worried that the demands for funds were becoming more than even his deep pockets could tolerate. In his diary, he wrote that the Emigrant Aid Company appeared as “a vigorous and rich company in the public prints, when in fact it is only an embodiment of the feeling of the people without material [or financial] strength.” And a few weeks later, he wrote that “all expenditures thus far have been by myself, but I cannot go further without funds in hand.”19

From his diary entries, it was clear that Amos Lawrence was committed financially and economically to the cause of keeping slavery out of Kansas Territory, even though that effort put a tremendous strain on his personal and business finances. Yet in none of his diary entries of other correspondence did Lawrence ever suggest that the source of his wealth was in any way incompatible with his antislavery passion. He, his father, and his uncle made their fortunes from buying, selling, and producing textiles—mostly made of cotton. Where did they get the raw cotton? Or, more to the point, who planted, picked, ginned, baled, and transported this cotton? The answer, of course, was the enslaved population in the American South—the same population for whom he was seeking freedom. Whether he had difficulty juxtaposing his antislavery views with his business dealings or not was and is a mystery. But if there was a conflict of conscience, it certainly did not dampen his commitment to the cause, nor did it stop him from recruiting other wealthy, like-minded friends to join the company.

One of Lawrence’s first recruits was a friend, John Carter Brown, whom he tapped as the president of the company. The title of president was, by design, mostly honorary. But Lawrence was strategic in drafting Brown as president. First, he was from a prominent New England family, and second, he was a moderate Whig, with no radical political baggage. Brown attended most board meetings and allowed his name to appear on many of the company’s circulars. Like Lawrence, much of the money Brown donated to the Emigrant Aid Company came from the backs of slaves and the institution of slavery he was trying to eradicate. His father and uncles made their fortunes from the “triangle trade.” Slaves were shipped to the Americas from Africa in exchange for sugar, which was transported from the Caribbean to New England, where it was distilled into rum. Rum and other goods were then shipped to Africa, where the process started all over again. The Browns donated a large portion of their profits to the College of Rhode Island, and for their generosity, they were honored when the school changed its name to Brown University.

John Carter Brown, however, followed in the footsteps of one of his uncles, Moses Brown, who made an about-face from his brothers, separated himself from their slave-trading business, and became an early leader in the antislavery movement in Rhode Island. In addition to his antislavery passions, John Carter Brown amassed one of the largest collections of rare books at the time. His son donated the collection to Brown University, creating the John Carter Brown Library, one of the finest research libraries in the country today.20

Joining Brown, Thayer, and Lawrence on the board was Dr. Thomas H. Webb as the secretary. Like many who would join the cause, Dr. Webb was well educated, having attended Brown University and graduated from Harvard Medical School. Whether he was an unsuccessful businessman or lost interest—or both—his medical practice failed. His interest shifted to history and science, and he was one of the founding members and the first librarian of the Providence Athenaeum. Webb signed on early with Thayer and served as secretary until his death in 1866.

Webb was concerned that the wonderful idea of the Emigrant Aid Company would be stillborn. On May 24, 1854, he wrote to Thayer that the whole scheme would be “perfectly Quixotic” since at that point the company was “endorsed by nobody” and that “not one of the [in]corporators has subscribed for a shilling’s worth of Stock.” But Webb also showed his determination to do his part to achieve success, writing: “I am ready and willing to put on the harness and work to the best of my ability and power.” He did just that.21

Several months later, when the emigration to Kansas began, Webb negotiated reduced fares on the conveyances and assisted prospective travelers in their plans to relocate. Perhaps his greatest contribution, however, was to write, revise, and publish a circular each year, beginning in 1855, to “answer the numerous inquiries respecting Kanzas [sic; sometimes it was spelled with a z], daily addressed to the Secretary both by letter and in person.”22 Amos Lawrence recognized how hard Webb worked for the success of the company, and later wrote that he was “the truest man of all.”23

In addition to Thayer, Lawrence, Brown, and Webb, many others contributed to the success of the venture. Few were as important as the Reverend Edward Everett Hale, a Unitarian minister from Worchester. Hale entered Harvard as a prodigy at age thirteen and graduated second in his class. His passion for liberating slaves was much like the passion for liberty of his great-uncle, Nathan Hale, who, when faced with his execution by the British in the Revolutionary War, regretted that he “only had one life to give for his country.” Hale signed on as the company’s chief publicist. Nine years earlier, Edward Hale had written a pamphlet—How to Conquer Texas Before Texas Conquers Us—advocating for abolitionists to settle in Texas to check the advancement of slavery there, which may or may not have planted the seed for the Emigrant Aid Company with Thayer. Hale threw his considerable energy into promoting the Emigrant Aid Company by making numerous speeches, writing articles, enlisting the help of clergymen around New England, and by publishing the book, Kanzas and Nebraska in September 1854, in which he described the territory, although he had never been there.24

The Reverend Thomas Wentworth Higginson—the same Higginson who led the mob trying to free Anthony Burns—passionately supported the Emigrant Aid Company, corresponded with the company’s settlers in Kansas, and later led a group of antislavery emigrants to Kansas. As the Kansas antislavery movement became more militant, Higginson worked behind the scenes to provide guns to the settlers. He came from one of the bluest of blue-blooded Boston families. His ancestor, Francis Higginson, was a member of the first Puritan settlement to New England and the first minister of the Salem, Massachusetts, church. Thomas graduated from Harvard and entered Harvard Divinity School but left after a year, drawn to Transcendentalist Unitarian minister Theodore Parker. He returned to Harvard, finished his theology studies, and, in 1847, accepted a call as minister of the First Religious Society of Newburyport, Massachusetts, a Unitarian church known for its liberal religious views. He invited speakers such as Theodore Parker and Ralph Waldo Emerson to address his congregation. He railed against the poor treatment of white workers in northern mills and condemned the institution of slavery. But when he implied that his own congregation was not doing enough to end the institution, he was asked and agreed to resign.

In 1852, Higginson accepted the appointment as minister of the Free Church in Worchester, Massachusetts, a nondenominational congregation, which was more in tune with his radical social views. After the failed attempt to free Anthony Burns, and after the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska Act, he joined Eli Thayer and the others as a key member of the Emigrant Aid Company.

Religious leaders in New England often held a great deal of influence over their congregations. Some were held in such high esteem that their names and stature were universally recognized and revered. Such was the case with the Reverend Dr. Lyman Beecher. If his name was associated with any program or cause, other clergymen paid attention. So to take advantage of his prestige, and to hopefully bring some money into the company’s coffers, Amos Lawrence drafted two circulars and obtained Lyman Beecher’s permission to attach his name at the top of the list to “the Clergymen of New England,” urging them and their parishioners to buy shares of $20 in the New England Emigrant Aid Company.25

Lyman Beecher was nearing eighty when he agreed to attach his name to the Emigrant Aid Company appeal. He was a patriarch among clergy, but he was also the head of one of the most famous families in America. His daughter Harriet married a professor of biblical literature named Calvin E. Stowe. The couple lived in Brunswick, Maine, where Calvin was a professor at Bowdoin College. There, in 1852, Harriet wrote one of the most influential books in American history, and one of the best selling books in the United States next to the Bible in the nineteenth century—Uncle Tom’s Cabin. Uncle Tom and the other characters in the story drew sympathy to the plight of enslaved African Americans more than any other book in the 1850s.

Harriet’s younger brother, Henry Ward Beecher, followed his father’s footsteps into the ministry, and became one of the most dynamic and influential ministers in the 1800s. Following his graduation from Lane Theological Seminary in 1837, the younger Beecher ministered in two churches in Indiana, and then in 1847 he was called to establish a new church in Brooklyn, New York. Beecher achieved success overnight. His Plymouth Church grew in membership to over two thousand members—an early mega-church—in a building that seated three thousand and was frequently full. His style was the opposite of his father and nearly all other clergymen of the day. He was informal, often telling funny stories from the pulpit. He encouraged congregational singing, which is taken for granted today, but was nearly unheard of then.26

Following the Compromise of 1850 and the passage of the Fugitive Slave Act, Henry Ward Beecher began to preach against the evils of slavery from his pulpit, and allowed his church to become a station on the Underground Railroad for escaped slaves. He even brought attractive young slave girls into church and conducted a mock auction, working the congregation into a frenzy to donate enough money to buy their freedom. His church in Brooklyn became one of the bastions of the American antislavery movement. Henry Ward Beecher would play an interesting role in the Kansas struggle that would involve his name and an important symbol of his profession. But before he could take the stage, the antislavery pioneers for which his father’s circular was trying to raise money had to settle in Kansas.
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